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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

U.S. Commodity Futues Trading Commission,

v.
03 CV 9129 (GBD)

Itradecurency USA, LLC,
Stephen E. Moore, and
Anthony Ianuzzi,

Defendants.

".QnN.oyellJ,"~r18, 2003, theU.S~.ComrodityFutures Trading:Coìmissiöil'-- .

("Commission") filed a Complaint charging defendant Itradecurency USA, LLC ("ITC" or

"Defendant") and others with the sale of ilegal off-exchange futures contracts and fraud in

violation of Sections 4(a) and 4b(a)(2) of the Commodity Exchange Act, as amended (the "Act"),

7 U.S.C. §§ 6(a) and 6b(a)(2) (2001), and Commission Regulation 1. 

1 (b), 17 C.F.R. § 1. 1 (b)

(2002). The Complaint also charges lTC, pursuant to Section 2(a)(l)(B) of 

the Act, 7 U.S.C. §

2(a)(l)(B) (2001), and Commission Regulation 1.2,17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2002), with liablity for any

violations of Section 4b(a)(2) of the Act and Commission Regulation 1. 
1 (b) by its offcers,

directors, managers, employees, and agents, in that all such violations were within the scope of

their offce or employment with ITC.

On November 19, 2003, ITC was properly served with the Complaint pursuant to Rule

4(h)(l) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure ("Fed. R. Civ. P."). ITC failed to answer the

Complaint within the time permitted by Rule 12(a)(l) of the Fed. R. Civ. P. Accordingly, on



March 25, 2008, the Clerk of this Cour entered a certificate of default against ITC for this

Complaint.

The Commission has now submitted its Application for Entry of Judgments by Default

with Injunctive Relief, Civil Monetar Penalties and Ancilar Equitable Relief against

Defendants Stephen Moore and Itradecurency USA, LLC ("Application") pursuant to Fed. R.

Civ. P. 55(b)(2) and Local Rule 55.2(b). The Cour has carefully considered the Complaint, the

allegations of which are well-pleaded and hereby taken as tre, the Application, and other wrtten

submissions of the Commission filed with the Cour, and being fully advised, hereby:

GRANTS the Commission's Application against ITC and enters findings of fact and

conclusions oflaw relevant to the allegations in theÇoinp.laint. The. Cour 

fuher grantsthe--' .__

Commission's request for entr ofa default judgment, injunctive relief, damages and ancilar

equitable relief. Accordingly, the Cour now issues this Order for Entry of Default Judgment,

Injunctive Relief, Civil Monetar Penalty, and Ancilar Equitable Relief against Defendant

Itradecurrency USA, LLC ("Order").

I. FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

A. Jurisdiction and Venue

Ths Cour has jursdiction over the subject matter of this action and ITC pursuant to

Section 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1, which authorizes the Commission to seek injunctive

relief against any person whenever it shall appear that such person has engaged, is engaging, or

is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a violation of any provision of the Act or

any rule, regulation, or order thereunder.

Venue properly lies with this Cour pursuant to Section 6c(e) of 

the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-

1, in that ITC was found in, inhabited, or transacted business in this district, and the acts and
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practices in violation ofthe Act occured within this district, among other places, and ITC

benefited from these acts and practices.

B. Findings of Fact

ITC is a New York limited liabilty company. ITC was owned and operated by

Defendants Stephen E. Moore and Anthony Iannuzzi. ITC has never been registered with the

Commission in any capacity. ITC is not a financial institution, a broker or dealer, an associated

person of a broker or dealer, an insurance company, a financial holding company, a futues

commission merchant, or an affliate of a futues commission merchant.

From at least December 2000 to November 2003, ITC fraudulently obtained fuds from

customers for the purpose of trading foreign currency contracts which wer~:.inf.açt,iiiegat.off-_~
"-_.- --_..__..__.__.._----- ..- ...... -_..-._-- ~-_._'__:.c...___'.. __.' ..._....,_____. .__. .".___',__'_..__'h.'_. __., .....

exchange foreign curency futures contracts. Instead of actually trading all of its clients' fuds, a

substantial portion of these fuds were misused and misappropriated by ITC without any

investment made in foreign currency contracts.

ITC defrauded customers in the amount of $970,573, and these il-gotten gains were used

by ITC for puroses other than for trading on behalf of customers.

The contracts sold by Defendant were for futue delivery and were cash settled in U.S.

dollars. The prices or pricing formulas were established at the time the contracts were initiated

and the contracts were settled through offset, cancellation, cash settlement or other means to

avoid delivery. The customer account agreement provided that customers must provide and

maintain margin requirements and that the transactions in the customer accounts were leveraged.

The customer account agreement fuer provided that stop loss orders may be placed on trades

and the agreement also discussed settlement dates and offsets.
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The contracts at issue were marketed to the general public. Defendant did not require

clients to set up baning relationships to faciltate delivery of the foreign currencies and the

transactions at issue did not occur on a board of trade designated by or registered with the

Commission as either a contract market or a derivatives transaction execution facility for such

commodity.

The paries involved in these foreign curency futues transactions were not eligible

contract paricipants or enumerated regulated counterparies. None of the paries was a financial

institution, a broker or dealer, an associated person of a broker or dealer, an insurance company,

a financial holding company, or an investment ban holding company. In addition, none of 

the

..P.aiieswas.afutures. commission merchant or .an affliate ofafuturescomissiol1 merchant.

C. Conclusions of Law

1. Violations of Section 4b(a)(2) of the Commodity Exchange Act and

Commission Regulation 1.1(b)

From at least December 2000 to November 2003, Defendant cheated or defrauded or

attempted to cheat or defraud customers and wilfully deceived or attempted to deceive

customers by, among other things, misappropriating fuds received from customers in violation

of Section 4b(a)(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2), and Commission Regulation 1. 
1 (b), 17

C.F.R.§ l.l(b). Defendant's conduct was in connection with the orders to make, or the making

of, contracts of sale of commodities for futue delivery, made or to be made, for or on behalf of

any other persons, and such contracts for futue delivery were or could be used for the puroses

set forth in Section 4b(a)(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2).

Defendant ITC is also liable, pursuant to Section 2(a)(l)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §

2(a)(l)(B) (2001), and Commission Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2002), for any violations of
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Section 4b(a)(2) of the Act and Commission Regulation 1. 
1 (b) by its officers, directors,

managers, employees, and agents, in that all such violations were within the scope of their office

or employment with ITC.

2. Violations of Section 4(a) of the Act

From at least December 2000 to November 2003, the Defendant offered to enter into,

executed, confirmed the execution. of, or conducted an offce or business in the United States for

the purose of soliciting, accepting any order for, or otherwise dealing in transactions in, or in

connection with, a contract for the purchase or sale of a commodity for futue delivery when: (a)

such transactions were not conducted on or subject to the rules of a board of 

trade which was

designated orregìsteÎ'èdby tliéCò:rísslon as a contract market or derivatives transaction

execution facilty for such commodity, and (b) such contracts were not executed or consumated

by or through such contract market.

5



4. Appropriate Relief

Permanent injunctive relief 
is waranted in light of 

the egregious nature of lTC's conduct

in misappropriating customer fuds through the sale of ilegal foreign currency futures contracts

from December 2000 to November 2003 as well as the high level of scienter in paricipating in

this well-planed scheme to systematically defraud customers. These facts demonstrate a

reasonable likelihood of future violations.

Imposition of a civil monetar penalty is appropriate in this case as lTC's violations of

the Act were intentionaL. Likewise, restitution is appropriate to make the customers victimized

by ITC whole.

II. .nlIER FOR RELIEF.

A. Permanent Injunction

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that:

1. ITC is permanently restrained, enjoined and prohibited from directly or indirectly:

A. Cheating or defrauding or attempting to cheat or defraud other persons, or
willfully makng or causing to be made to another person any false report
or statement thereof, or willfully entering or causing to be entered for
another person any false record thereof, or wilfully deceiving or
attempting to deceive another person by any means whatsoever in regard to
any order or contract or the disposition or execution of any order or
contract, or in regard to any act of agency performed with respect to any
order or contract for another person, in or in connection with any order to
make, or the making of, any contract of sale of any commodity for future
delivery, made, or to be made, for or on behalf of any other person if such
contract for futue delivery is or may be used for:

(1) hedging any transaction in interstate commerce in a

commodity or the products or bypro 
ducts thereof;

(2) determining the price basis of any transaction in interstate
commerce in such commodity; or

(3) delivering any commodity sold, shipped, or received in

interstate commerce for the fulfillment thereof
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in violation of Section 4b(a)(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2) (2001), and
Commission Regulation 1.1(b), 17 C.F.R. §1.1(b) (2002); and

B. Offering to enter into, entering into, executing, confirming the execution

of, or conducting any offce or business anywhere in the United States, its
territories or possessions for the purose of soliciting, accepting any order
for, or otherwse dealing in, any transaction in, or connection with, a
contract for the purchase or sale of a commodity for future delivery in
violation of Section 4(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6(a)(2001).

2. ITC is further permanently restrained, enjoined and prohibited from engaging

directly or indirectly in any activity related to trading in any commodity, as that term is defined

in Section 1a(4) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(4), ("commodity interest"), including but not limited to.

the following:

A. TradinE.,~n_or§l.bj~~lJQ th~1'lesof anyregistered entitY; atthattettfris--
deiÍned in Section 1a(29) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § la(29);

B. Engaging in, controllng or directing the trading for any commodity
interest account for or on behalf of any other person or entity, whether by
power of attorney or otherwse;

C. Soliciting, receiving, or accepting any fuds from any person in

connection with the purchase or sale of any commodity interest contract;

D. Applying for registration or claiming exemption from registration with the
Commission in any capacity, and engaging in any activity requiring such
registration or exemption from registration with the Commission, except
as provided for in Regulation 4.14 (a)(9),"1 7 C.F.R. § 4. 14(a)(9) (2004), or
acting as a principal, agent or any other officer or employee of any person
registered, exempted from registration or required to be registered with the
Commission, except as provided for in Regulation 4.14 (a)(9), 17 C.F.R. §
4.14(a)(9) (2004);

E. Entering into any commodity interest transactions for his own personal

account, for any account in which he has a direct or indirect interest and/or
having any commodity interests traded on his behalf; and/or

F. Engaging in any business activities related to commodity interest trading.
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3. ITC is further permanently restrained, enjoined and prohibited from filing a

petition in banptcy without providing the Commission with prompt notice by Certified Mail

of such filing pursuant to Par II.H.2 of this Order.

4. The injunctive provision of this Order shall be binding upon ITC, upon any

person who acts in the capacity of officer, agent, employee, attorney, successor and/or assign of

the ITC and upon any person who receives actual notice of 

this Order, by personal service or

otherwse, insofar as he or she is acting in active concert or paricipation with ITC.

B. Civil Monetary Penalty

IT is FURTHER ORDERED that as of 
the date of entry of this Order, Defendant shall

pay a civìl moneta penalty in the 
amount of ~240;OOO;plus post jÜdgment interesf(ilie "CMP-. __u

Obligation"). Post-judgment interest shall accrue beginning on the date of entry of 

this Order

and shall be determined by using the Treasur Bil rate prevailng on the date of entry of this

Order pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961.

Defendant shall pay the CMP Obligation by electronic fuds transfer, U.S. postal money

order, certified check, ban cashier's check, or ban money order. If 

payment is to be made by

other than electronic fuds transfer, Defendant shall make the payment payable to the U.S.

Commodity Futues Trading Commission and send to the following address:

U.S. Commodity Futues Trading Commission
Division of Enforcement
Attention: Mare Bateman - AMZ-300
DOT/F AAMAC
6500 South MacArur Boulevard
Oklahoma City, OK 73169
Telephone: 405-954-6569

If the payment is to be made by electronic fuds transfer, Defendant shall contact Mare Bateman

or her successor at the above address to receive payment instructions and shall fully comply with
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those instrctions. Defendant shall accompany the payment of the penalty with a cover letter

that identifies Defendant and the name and docket number of 

this proceeding.

Defendant shall simultaneously transmit copies of the cover letter and the form of

payment to (a) Director, Division of Enforcement, U.S. Commodity Futures Trading

Commission, Thee Lafayette Centre, 1155 21st Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20581, (b) Chief,

Offce of Cooperative Enforcement, Division of Enforcement, at the same address, and (c)

Regional Counsel, U.S. Commodity Futues Trading Commission, Eastern Regional Office, 140

Broadway, 19th Floor, New York, NY 10005.

C. . Restitution

IT is FURTHER ORDERED that a~ 9ftlie cl.at~Qf entry 

of this Order,. Defendant shaH,

pay, jointly and severally with its co-defendants in this matter, Stephen E. Moore and Anthony

Ianuzzi, restitution to defrauded customers in the atount of $970,573 (nine hundred seventy

thousand five hundred seventy thee dollars), plus pre-judgment and post-judgment interest (the

"Restitution Obligation"). Pre-judgment interest shall accrue from May 1, 2003 to the date of

entry of this Order and shall be determined by using the underpayment rate established quarerly

by the Internal Revenue Service pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 6621 

(a)(2). Post-judgment interest
shall accrue beginning on the date of entry of this Order and shall be determined by using the

Treasur Bil rate prevailng on the date of entry of this Order pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961.

Defendant shall pay the Restitution Obligation to Brian Rosner, Esq., the Cour-

appointed Receiver, Rosner & Napierala, LLP, 26 Broadway, 22nd floor, New York, NY 10004-

24424 by cashier's check, certified check or postal money order, under cover of a letter that

identifies the name and docket number of this action and the name of this Court. Defendant

shall simultaneously transmit copies of 
the cover letter and the form of payment to (a) Director,
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Division of Enforcement, U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission, Three Lafayette

Centre, 1155 21st Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20581, (b) Chief, Office of Cooperative

Enforcement, Division of Enforcement, at the same address, and (c) Regional Counsel, U.S.

Commodity Futures Trading Commission, Eastern Regional Office, 140 Broadway, 19th Floor,

New York, NY 10005.

D. Priority of Monetary Sanctions and Partial Payments

1. Priority of Monetar Sanctions - All payments by ITC pursuant to this Order shall

first be applied to satisfy lTC's Restitution Obligation. Aft~r satisfaction ofITC's Restitution

Obligation, payments by ITC pursuant to this Order shall be applied to satisfy lTC's CMP

Obligation.

2. Partial Payments - Any acceptance by the Commission and/or Receiver of parial

payment ofITC's Restitution Obligation and/or CMP Obligation shall not be deemed a waiver of

the respective requirement to make further payments pursuant to this Order, or a waiver ofthe

Commission's and/or Receiver's right to seek to compel payment of any remaining balance.

.
E. Appointment of Permanent Receiver

1. Permanent Receiver: Brian Rosner, Esq., Rosner & Napierala, LLP,

26 Broadway, 22nd floor, New York, NY 10004-24424 (the "Receiver") is appointed as a

permanent equity Receiver to take into his immediate custody, control, and possession all cash,

cashier's checks, fuds, assets, and property of Defendant, including funds or property of

investors wherever found, whether held in the name of Defendant or otherwise, including, but

not limited to, all books and records of account and original entry, electronically stored data, tape

recordings, all funds, securities, contents of safety deposit boxes, metals, currencies, coins, real

or personal property, commodity futures trading accounts, ban and trst accounts, mutual fund
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accounts, credit card line-of-credit accounts and other assets, of whatever kind and nature and

wherever situated, and authorizing, empowering and directing such Receiver to collect and take

charge of and to hold and administer the same subject to fuher order of 

the Cour, in order to

prevent irreparable loss, damage and injur to investors, to conserve and prevent the dissipation

of fuds, to prevent further evasions and violations of the Act and Commission Regulations by

the Defendant and to satisfy Defendant's Restitution Obligation and to pay Defendant's CMP

Obligation.

2. The Receiver shall oversee lTC's Restitution Obligation, and shall have discretion

to determine the maner for distrbution of fuds in an equitable fashion to Defendant's

defrauded customers, as appropriate, or.l1ay_defer.distribution untilsuch.time as it deems
--"----" ._---~---_... --_._--

appropriate. In the event that the amount of restitution payments to the Receiver are of a de

minimis natue such that the Receiver determines that the administrative costs of making a

restitution distribution is impracticäl, the Receiver may, in its discretion, treat such restitution

payments as civil monetary penalty payments, which the Receiver shall forward to the

Commission following the instructions for civil monetary penalty payments set forth in Par II.B.

above.

3. The Receiver, subject to approval of the Cour, is entitled to reasonable

compensation for the performance of duties pursuant to ths Order by it and all personnel hired

by the Receiver, including counsel to the Receiver, and is also entitled to the cost of actual out-

of-pocket expenses incured by them (the "Receivership fees and expenses").

4. Within ninety (90) days after the Cour approves and enters orders for final

judgment against all the defendants in the following cases, 03 CV 9124, 03 CV 9126,03 CIV

9127,03 CV 9128 and 03 CV 9129, the Receiver shall submit to the Court for approval, and
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